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the final decision and order on appeal, 
or may remand the case for any pro-
ceedings that the TSA decision maker 
determines may be necessary. 

[74 FR 36039, July 21, 2009, as amended at 75 
FR 58334, Sept. 24, 2010] 

§ 1503.661 Judicial review of a final 
order. 

For violations of a TSA requirement, 
a party may petition for review of a 
final order of the Administrator only 
to the courts of appeals of the United 
States or the United States Court of 
Appeals for the District of Columbia 
pursuant to 49 U.S.C. 46110. A party 
seeking judicial review of a final order 
must file a petition for review not later 
than 60 days after the final order has 
been served on the party. 

Subpart H—Judicial Assessment of 
Civil Penalties 

§ 1503.701 Applicability of this sub-
part. 

(a) Jurisdictional minimums. This sub-
part applies to a civil penalty action 
under this part in which the total 
amount in controversy exceeds the fol-
lowing amounts. 

(b) In general. Except as provided in 
paragraph (c) of this section, in the 
case of violation of title 49 U.S.C. or 46 
U.S.C chapter 701, a regulation pre-
scribed, or order issued under any of 
those provisions, the amount in con-
troversy exceeds the following: 

(1) $50,000, in the case of violation by 
an individual or small business con-
cern, as defined in section 3 of the 
Small Business Act (15 U.S.C. 632). 

(2) $400,000, in the case of violation by 
any other person. 

(c) Certain aviation related violations. 
In the case of a violation of 49 U.S. C. 
chapter 449 (except sections 44902, 
44903(d), 44907(a)–(d)(1)(A), 
44907(d)(1)(C)–(f), 44908, and 44909), or a 
regulation prescribed or order issued 
under any of those provisions, the 
amount in controversy exceeds the fol-
lowing: 

(1) $50,000, in the case of violation by 
an individual (except an airman serv-
ing as an airman), any person not oper-
ating an aircraft for the transportation 
of passengers or property for com-
pensation, or a small business concern, 

as defined in section 3 of the Small 
Business Act (15 U.S.C. 632). 

(2) $400,000, in the case of violation by 
a person operating an aircraft for the 
transportation of passengers or prop-
erty for compensation (except an indi-
vidual serving as an airman). 

§ 1503.703 Civil penalty letter; referral. 

(a) Issuance. In a civil penalty action 
in which the amount in controversy ex-
ceeds the amounts set forth in 
§ 1503.701, the Administrator will send a 
civil penalty letter to the person 
charged with a violation of a TSA re-
quirement. 

(b) Contents. The civil penalty letter 
will contain a statement of the 
charges; the applicable law, rule, regu-
lation, or order; the amount of civil 
penalty that the Administrator will ac-
cept in full settlement of the action or 
an offer to compromise the civil pen-
alty. 

(c) Response. Not later than 30 days 
after receipt of the civil penalty letter, 
the person charged with a violation 
may present to the agency attorney 
any material or information in answer 
to the charges, either orally or in writ-
ing, that may explain, mitigate, or 
deny the violation or that may show 
extenuating circumstances. The Ad-
ministrator will consider any material 
or information submitted in accord-
ance with this paragraph (c) to deter-
mine whether the person is subject to a 
civil penalty or to determine the 
amount for which the Administrator 
will compromise the action. 

(d) Compromise. If the person charged 
with a violation offers to compromise 
the civil penalty action for a specific 
amount, that person must send pay-
ment in a form and manner acceptable 
to TSA for that amount to the agency, 
made payable to the Transportation 
Security Administration, or make pay-
ment electronically through http:// 
www.pay.gov. The Chief Counsel or the 
Deputy Chief Counsel for Civil Enforce-
ment may accept the payment or may 
refuse and return the payment. If the 
Administrator accepts the offer to 
compromise, the agency will send a let-
ter to the person charged with the vio-
lation stating that the payment is ac-
cepted in full settlement of the civil 
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penalty action and that the matter is 
closed. 

(e) Referral for prosecution and collec-
tion. If the parties cannot agree to 
compromise the civil penalty action or 
the offer to compromise is rejected and 
the payment submitted in compromise 
is returned, the Administrator may 
refer the civil penalty action to the 
United States Attorney General, or the 
delegate of the Attorney General, to 
begin proceedings in a United States 
district court, pursuant to the author-
ity in 49 U.S.C. 114 or 46305 to prosecute 
and collect the civil penalty. 

(f) The Administrator delegates to 
the Chief Counsel and the Deputy Chief 
Counsel for Enforcement the authority 
to carry out any function of the Ad-
ministrator described in this § 1503.703. 

Subpart I—Formal Complaints 
§ 1503.801 Formal complaints. 

(a) Any person may file a complaint 
with the Administrator with respect to 
any act or omission by any person in 
contravention of 49 U.S.C., subtitle VII, 
part A, (except sections 44902, 44903(d), 
44907(a)–(d)(1)(A), 44907(d)(1)(C)–(f), 
44908, and 44909) administered by the 
Administrator, or a regulation pre-
scribed or order issued under any of 
those provisions. This section does not 
apply to complaints against the Ad-
ministrator or employees of the TSA 
acting within the scope of their em-
ployment. 

(b) Complaints filed under this sec-
tion must— 

(1) Be submitted in writing and iden-
tified as a complaint filed for the pur-
pose of seeking an appropriate order or 
other enforcement action; 

(2) Be submitted to the U.S. Depart-
ment of Homeland Security, Transpor-
tation Security Administration, by fol-
lowing the instructions to complete a 
‘‘complaint’’ contact form by following 
the instructions on the TSA Web site, 
currently accessible at http:// 
www.tsa.gov/contact/index.shtm. 

(3) Set forth the name and address, if 
known, of each person who is the sub-
ject of the complaint and, with respect 
to each person, the specific provisions 
of the statute, regulation, or order that 
the person filing the complaint be-
lieves were violated; 

(4) Contain a concise, but complete, 
statement of the facts relied upon to 
substantiate each allegation; 

(5) State the name, address, and tele-
phone number of the person filing the 
complaint; and 

(6) Be signed by the person filing the 
complaint or a duly authorized rep-
resentative. 

(c) TSA will consider complaints that 
do not meet the requirements of para-
graph (b) of this section as reports 
under § 1503.1. 

(d) TSA will place complaints that 
meet the requirements of paragraph (b) 
of this section in the docket and will 
mail a copy to each person named in 
the complaint. 

(e) TSA will refer any complaint 
against a member of the Armed Forces 
of the United States acting in the per-
formance of official duties to the Sec-
retary of the Department concerned in 
accordance with the procedures set 
forth in § 1503.407. 

(f) The person named in the com-
plaint must file an answer within 20 
days after service of a copy of the com-
plaint. 

(g) After the complaint has been an-
swered or after the allotted time in 
which to file an answer has expired, the 
Administrator, or a designated official, 
will determine if there are reasonable 
grounds for investigating the com-
plaint. 

(h) If the Administrator, or a des-
ignated official, determines that a 
complaint does not state facts that 
warrant an investigation or action, the 
Administrator or designated official 
may dismiss the complaint without a 
hearing and, if so, will provide the rea-
son for the dismissal, in writing, to the 
person who filed the complaint and the 
person(s) named in the complaint. 

(i) If the Administrator, or a des-
ignated official, determines that rea-
sonable grounds exist, an informal in-
vestigation may be initiated. Each per-
son named in the complaint will be ad-
vised which official has been delegated 
the responsibility under § 1503.203 for 
conducting the investigation. 

(j) If the investigation substantiates 
the allegations set forth in the com-
plaint, a notice of proposed order may 
be issued or other enforcement action 
taken in accordance with this part. 
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